IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

:

:

:

•

:

:

:

:

:

MARY ANN VIA, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Edgar R. Putnam, deceased, MARY ANN VIA, individually, PAUL DAVID PUTNAM, JOSEPH EDGAR PUTNAM, RICHARD LEE PUTNAM, RONALD ROY PUTNAM and ROBERT BLACKBURN,

Petitioners,

vs.

MARY RACHEL PUTNAM,

Respondent.

JUN 27 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

Case No. 83,660

PETITIONERS' AMENDED JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, Second District State of Florida

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Petitioner files this Amended Jurisdictional Brief and Amended Appendix to reflect the district court's withdrawal of its prior opinion and its substitution of a new opinion for the prior opinion. (Apps. A & E.)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In 1985, the decedent, Edgar Putnam, and his wife, Joann Putnam, executed mutual wills. (App. A, at 2.) Each will devised that spouse's entire estate to the survivor, and each will provided that the survivor was to devise his or her estate to the couple's five children and stepson [hereinafter referred to collectively as "the children"]. (App. A, at 2.) Each will also contained an express provision

that the survivor will not change the manner in which the residuary estate is to be distributed and that neither of us as survivors will do anything to defeat the distribution schedule set forth herein, such as disposing of assets prior to death by way of trust bank account, trust agreements, or in any other manner.

(App. A, at 2.)

After Joann Putnam's death, Edgar Putnam married Rachel. (App. A, at 2.) Edgar never made another will. (App. A, at 2-3.) Upon Edgar's death, the mutual will he had executed with his former wife was admitted into probate.

(App. A, at 2.) The children filed claims against Edgar's estate based on Edgar's breach of the mutual will. (App. A, at 3.) After objections to the claims were filed, the children filed independent actions based on breach of contract. (App. A, at 3.) The independent actions were consolidated and transferred back to the probate proceedings. (App. A, at 3.) Thereafter, the trial court entered an order declaring Rachel to be the pretermitted spouse of Edgar Putnam. (App. A, at 3.)

The trial court next entered summary judgment in favor of the children. (App. A, at 3.) The trial court found that Edgar had breached his mutual will when he married Rachel without taking appropriate steps to protect the interests of the children. (App. A, at 3.) The trial court thus concluded that the children had valid claims against Edgar's estate based on Edgar's breach of the mutual wills. (App. A, at 3.)

Significantly, the trial court held that the valid claims of the children are class 7 obligations under section 733.707, Florida Statutes (1991)¹, and that Rachel's share as a pretermitted spouse is subject to those class 7 obligations. (App. A, at 3.) Accordingly, the trial court concluded that the children, like any other creditors in that class, are entitled to Edgar's entire estate less any

¹ Under the current statute, the class is numbered Class 8. § 733.707, Fla. Stat. (1993).

exempt property, family allowance or homestead interests that may pass to Rachel free from claims of creditors. (App. A, at 3.)

On April 6, 1994, the Florida Second District Court of Appeal reversed the order of the trial court. (App. A.) The district court concluded that Florida's strong public policy in favor of protecting a surviving spouse "requires that the surviving spouse's elective share or pretermitted share be given priority over rights arising under an antenuptial contract of the deceased spouse." (App. A, at 8-9.) In issuing its ruling, the district court expressly recognized that its holding conflicts with the rule applied in Johnson v. Girtman, 542 So. 2d 1033 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989).

Appellee Robert Blackburn (the stepson) filed a timely motion for rehearing, a motion for rehearing en banc, and a suggestion of direct conflict. (App. B.) The Appellant, Rachel Putnam, filed a timely motion for clarification. (App. C.) The instant Petitioners filed no post-decision motions with the district court. On May 4, 1994, the instant Petitioners (who, along with Robert Blackburn, were appellees below) filed a timely notice to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction.

This Court stayed proceedings pending disposition of the motion for rehearing. The district court denied Appellee Blackburn's post-decisional motions, (App. D), but has not yet ruled on the suggestion of direct conflict. The

district court granted the Appellant's motion for clarification, (App. E), and on June 10, 1994, the district court issued a substituted opinion. (App. A.)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

As expressly recognized by the district court, its decision conflicts with the rule applied by the Florida Third District Court of Appeal in Johnson v. Girtman. The Johnson court rejected a surviving spouse's argument that his elective share was superior to his deceased wife's agreement with her family members to devise her property only to her siblings. The Johnson court viewed the family agreement as a valid contractual claim which, like any other creditor's valid claim, must be satisfied prior to determining the spouse's elective share. In accordance with statutorily determined priorities for distribution, therefore, the Johnson court ruled that the surviving spouse was not entitled to an elective share in the family property because the contractual claim eliminated that property from the deceased wife's estate.

The instant district court expressly chose not to follow the <u>Johnson</u> analysis, and chose instead to rule that a spouse's elective share is superior to rights arising by virtue of an antenuptial contract of the deceased spouse. The instant court based its decision on what the court determined was Florida's strong public policy in favor of

protecting a surviving spouse's right to receive an intestate share as pretermitted spouse.

Thus, as recognized by the district court, conflict exists as to whether Florida's public policy favoring a surviving spouse overrides both Florida's statutory scheme for distribution of property and Florida's well-established recognition that persons may make contracts to bind themselves to dispose of their own property in a particular way by will. It is particularly fitting that this Court should review this conflict of competing public policies.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Florida Supreme Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review a decision of a district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of the supreme court or another district court of appeal on the same point of law. Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const.; Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THIS CASE EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISION OF THE FLORIDA THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN JOHNSON V. GIRTMAN, 542 So. 2d 1033 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989).

The Florida Second District Court of Appeal expressly acknowledged that its decision conflicts with <u>Johnson v.</u>

<u>Girtman</u>, 542 So. 2d 1033 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989). (App. A, at 9.) <u>Johnson</u> concerned an agreement by brothers and sisters to devise their respective shares of family property only to their children, or, if they were childless, to their siblings. <u>See id</u>. at 1034-35. The dispute arose when one of the siblings, who died childless, named her surviving spouse as the sole beneficiary of her estate. <u>See id</u>. at 1035. The surviving spouse contended that he was entitled to his deceased wife's share of the family property on the ground that his elective share was superior to his deceased wife's agreement with her family. <u>See id</u>. at 1034-35.

The third district court rejected the surviving spouse's argument. <u>See id</u>. at 1037. The court based its conclusion on the requirement in the elective share statute that all claims and liens against the estate be deducted prior to calculating an elective share. <u>See id</u>. Accordingly, the surviving spouse's elective share was to be based on the assets that remained after deducting all valid claims against the estate. <u>See id</u>. "Claims" are statutorily defined as "liabilities of the decedent, whether arising in contract, tort, or otherwise, and funeral expenses." <u>See id</u>. (citing § 731.201(4), Fla. Stat. (1987)). The court found that the family agreement gave rise to a valid contractual claim that must be satisfied prior to determining the spouse's elective share. <u>See id</u>. Consequently, the court ruled that the contractual claim

effectively eliminated from the deceased wife's estate any interest in the family property, and that the surviving spouse was not entitled to an elective share in that property. See id.

Although the second district court specifically recognized that the <u>Johnson</u> analysis and conclusion "do indeed support" the children's position in the instant case, the court nevertheless chose not to follow the <u>Johnson</u> analysis. (App. A, at 6.) Instead, the district court chose to follow a Maryland decision, <u>Shimp v. Huff</u>, 556 A.2d 252 (Md. 1989).

The district court explained that the issue in <u>Shimp</u> was whether Lester Shimp's second wife, upon his death, was entitled to receive an elective share in Lester's estate when Lester had previously contracted, by virtue of a joint will with his first wife, to will his entire estate to others. (App. A, at 6.) The Maryland court decided that the question of priorities between a surviving spouse and beneficiaries under a contract to make a will should be resolved on the basis of the public policy that surrounds the marriage relationship and that underlies the elective share statute. (App. A, at 8.) The Maryland court pointed to that state's strong public policy in favor of protecting the surviving spouse's right to receive an elective share. (App. A, at 8.) The court concluded that the contractual claims under the joint will were subordinate to the

surviving spouse's right to receive her elective share. (App. A, at 8.)

After reviewing the Maryland case, the district court announced that it agreed with the Maryland court's conclusion and reasoning. (App. A, at 8.) According to the district court, Florida's statutes pertaining to a surviving spouse's elective share, along with cases discussing elective share and its predecessor, dower, suggest a strong public policy in favor of protecting a surviving spouse's right to receive an elective share. (App. A, at 8.) The court concluded that this strong public policy requires the surviving spouse's elective share or pretermitted share to be given priority over rights arising under an antenuptial contract of the deceased spouse. (App. A, at 9.)

As expressly recognized by the district court, the district court's holding conflicts with the rule applied in <u>Johnson</u>. Because of the express and direct conflict between the decisions of the second and third district courts of appeal, this Court should exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to resolve that conflict.

This Court's review is especially appropriate because, as recognized by the second district court, public policy interpretation is at issue. Resolution of the conflict involves a judgment as to whether the public policy favoring surviving spouses may negate or supersede what appears to be the clear distribution scheme set forth in the probate

The district court's decision also raises statutes. questions about the continued viability of Florida's wellestablished recognition of the principle that persons may make contracts to bind themselves to dispose of their own property in a particular way by will. See, e.g., McDowell v. Ritter, 153 Fla. 50, 13 So. 2d 612 (1942). Similarly, the district court's decision makes unclear the status of the corollary rule that, if the promisor breaches his agreement to make a devise or not to revoke a will, the beneficiary of the promise or the improperly revoked will may bring an action to enforce the terms of the agreement. See, e.g., In re Estate of Algar, 383 So. 2d 676 (Fla. 5th DCA), <u>review denied</u>, 389 So. 2d 1107 (Fla. 1980). Thus, the interplay between competing public policy issues and their effect on statutory and case law make this a compelling case for the exercise of this court's discretionary jurisdiction.

CONCLUSION

This Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision below, and the Court should exercise that jurisdiction to consider the merits of the Petitioners' argument.