015

FILED

SID & WHITE

JUL 12 1994

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Case No. 83,660

Chief Deputy Clerk

IN RE:

ESTATE OF EDGAR R. PUTNAM,

DECEASED.

MARY ANN VIA, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Edgar R. Putnam, deceased, MARY ANN VIA, Individually, PAUL DAVID PUTNAM, JOSEPH EDGAR PUTNAM, RICHARD LEE PUTNAM, RONALD ROY PUTNAM, and ROBERT BLACKBURN,

Petitioners,

 \mathbf{v} .

MARY RACHEL PUTNAM,

Respondent.

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL SECOND DISTRICT STATE OF FLORIDA

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent Rachel Putnam was determined to be the pretermitted spouse of Edgar Putnam by order of the trial court on October 14, 1992 (R-617, A-1).

The Petitioners had filed claims in the estate based upon the theory that they are third party beneficiaries of the wills executed by Edgar Putnam and his former wife, Joann Putnam. Objections were filed (R-083, R-085), and independent actions were filed (R-557-567). The cases were consolidated back into the probate division (R-615). Petitioners moved for summary judgment and were granted same on April 30, 1993 (R-830, A-2). That order provided that Petitioners were entitled to preference in appropriation of assets of the estate by virtue of their status as claimants, and that even though Respondent is a pretermitted spouse, she takes nothing because the claims of the residuary beneficiaries amount to the entire estate (R-833, A-4).

The Second District Court of Appeal reversed the lower court, holding, "We believe that the statutes of Florida pertaining to a surviving spouse's elective share or pretermitted share and cases discussing those rights and their predecessor, dower, suggest a strong public policy in favor of protecting a surviving spouse's right to receive an elective or a pretermitted share." Putnam v. Via, 19 FLW 1280 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioners, the Appellees below, have requested this court to review this case as a matter of discretion based upon Article V, Sec. 3 (b)(3) and Fla. R. App. P. 9.030 (a)(2)(A)(iv). The Supreme Court may decline to review this case, and in so doing will leave the law clear and undisputed: Florida's long standing law supported by public policy reasons favors the interests of the surviving spouse over the interests of residuary beneficiaries.

An analysis of the facts of the instant case as opposed to the facts in the case cited as being in conflict, reveals that any conflict regarding the law is illusory and is further based upon the particular facts of that case. The opinion in <u>Johnson v. Girtman</u> did not conflict with Florida's long standing public policy of preferring the widow's share over both ante nuptial contracts and residuary beneficiaries.

The opinion rendered in <u>Johnson v. Girtman</u> is reconciled with the opinion rendered in <u>Putnam</u>, when all of the pertinent Florida probate law is considered.

ARGUMENT

The Second District Court of Appeal was correct when it stated, "[T]he statutes of Florida pertaining to a surviving spouse's elective share or pretermitted share and cases discussing those rights and their predecessor, dower, suggest a strong public policy in favor of protecting a surviving spouse's right to receive an elective or a pretermitted share." Putnam v. Via, 19 FLW 1280 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994). Any apparent conflict between the decision rendered in Johnson v. Girtman, 542 So. 2d 1033 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989) and Putnam v. Via, 19 FLW 1280 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994) is resolved upon a complete review of both cases.

Factually and legally, the cases differ significantly. In Johnson v. Girtman, the spouse seeking an elective share had signed an agreement waiving his interest in the disputed property. This was a valid waiver under Florida Statute 732.702: "The right of election of a surviving spouse,... may be waived, wholly or partly, before or after marriage, by a written contract, agreement, or waiver, signed by the waiving party." The trial court held the waiver to be valid, and this decision was undisturbed on appeal.

In contrast, the mutual wills in <u>Putnam</u> were executed without the knowledge of and prior to the marriage of decedent to respondent, the pretermitted spouse. Florida law has consistently held that the surviving spouse

is not bound to ante nuptial contracts of the deceased spouse. <u>In re Estate of Donner</u>, 364 So.2d 742 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978), cert. denied, 373 So.2d 457 (Fla. 1978), appeal dismissed sub nom. <u>Donner v. Anton</u>, et al., 444 U.S. 958, 100 S.Ct. 442, 62 L.Ed 371 (1979); Tod v. Fuller, 78 So.2d 713 (Fla. 1955).

In <u>Johnson</u>, the disputed property was one parcel of land, in which the surviving spouse had waived his interest in writing. The elective share was not defeated by creditors, since the entire estate was in fact, devised to the spouse and the spouse was not even electing against the will. The surviving spouse was arguing to void the contract. In this case, respondent is asserting the rights of a spouse against the will, regardless of the terms of that will, as she is entitled to do by statute. Fla. Stat. 732.507, Fla. Stat. 732.301.

In contrast, the petitioners, though already undisputed residuary beneficiaries, maintain that they are third party contract beneficiaries of the following paragraph in the will of Edgar Putnam:

I acknowledge that this is a mutual will made at the same time as my [spouse's] will and each of us have executed this Will with the understanding and agreement that the survivor will not change the manner in which the residuary estate is to be distributed and that neither of us as survivors will do anything to defeat the distribution schedule set forth herein, such as disposing of assets prior to death by way of trust bank accounts, trust agreements, or in any other manner.

Under the terms of the will in this case, petitioners are entitled to the residue of the estate. Respondent would agree. Edgar Putnam did nothing to change the distribution of the residue. Edgar Putnam did not, by marrying Respondent, 'change the manner in which the residuary estate is to be distributed,' nor did he 'defeat the distribution schedule set forth' in the will. He did not change the terms of the mutual will, because marriage does not revoke the previous will. Fla. Stat. 732.507; In re: Suarez's Estate, 198 So.2d 829, 145 Fla. 183 (1940). The will remains valid though the spouse has certain rights

that attach to it prior to the interests of the residuary beneficiaries. Keith v. Culp, 111 So.2d 278 (Fla. 5th DCA 1959). See also In re Estate of Churchwell, 354 So.2d 970 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978); Murphy v. Murphy, 125 Fla. 855, 170 So. 856 (1936). Further, the majority view is that contracts which discourage or restrain the right to marry are void as against public policy. Shimp v. Huff, infra. Therefore, the trial court erred when it determined that by entering into marriage, Edgar Putnam breached the mutual will.

In contrast, Mrs. Johnson breached the Agreement to Keep Will in Force because she died after making a new will leaving everything to her spouse. Thus, there was a clear breach of the separate contract executed by the decedent. She made a new will in disregard of the contract.

The <u>Johnson</u> decision is in agreement with Florida law which has long held that a separate contract to make a will is enforceable while mutual wills, being ambulatory in nature, do not give rise to contract claims:

"This court has held that "unlike a will which clearly is ambulatory in nature and therefore may readily be revoked by a competent testator, a contract to make a will may be irrevocable and therefore subject to specific enforcement by the courts." Donner v. Donner, 302 So.2d 452, 455 (Fla. 3d DCA 1974), cert. denied, 314 So. 2d 151 (Fla. 1975) (emphasis added; citations omitted). Therefore, "[I]f the promisor breaches his agreement to make a devise or not to revoke a will, the beneficiary of the promise or the improperly revoked will may bring an action to enforce the terms of the agreement." Johnson v. Girtman, 542 So. 2d 1033, 1035 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989) (citations omitted). See also Sharps v. Sharps, 219 So. 2d 735 (Fla. 3d DCA 1969) ("In a contract to make a will, the promisor has the right to change his will, and . . . the right being enforced against the promisor is the contract right, and not the will. . . .), cert. denied, 225 So.2d 920 (Fla. 1969); In re Shepherd's Estate, 130 So. 2d 888 (Fla. 2d DCA 1961) (mutual wills are ambulatory in nature and may be revoked; contract upon which mutual wills are made may be enforced depending upon circumstances); Keith v. Culp, 111 So.2d 278 (Fla. 1st DCA 1959) (same), cert. denied, 114 So. 2d 5 (Fla. 1959). " Boyle v. Schmitt, 602 So. 2d 665 (Fla 3d DCA 1992).

But these cases do not apply here. The Girtmans would not have been in

Putnam v. Via
Jurisdictional Brief of Respondent
July 11, 1994

the court file had they not filed claims in <u>Johnson</u>, because everything was devised to the surviving spouse. Such is not the case here. Petitioners were already residuary beneficiaries before they filed claims. It is the respondent spouse who would not be recognized but for her intervention in the estate. Petitioners here argue for more than that to which they are entitled. They argue that they are creditors, but in fact are only legatees who have perfected their residuary interests. They remain **residuary** beneficiaries only. <u>Donner</u>, supra¹. Petitioners are therefore entitled to the residue AFTER the pretermitted spouse share. Fla. Stat. 733.805.

There is no conflict with <u>Johnson</u> regarding the preference of the pretermitted spouse. Florida's long standing public policy supports the preference of the pretermitted spouse as a real, and not illusory benefit. The pretermitted share is not a presumption which may be rebutted. <u>Dumas v. Sanford</u>, 413 So.2d 58 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982), review denied, 422 So.2d 843 (Fla. 1982), appeal dismissed, 460 U.S. 1076, 103 S.Ct. 1761, 76 L.Ed.2d 337 (1983). Even apparently harsh results have occurred in Florida because of the courts' adherence to the law's clear terms. In <u>In re Estate of Gaspelin</u>, 542 So.2d 1023, (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), review denied, 547 So.2d 1209 (Fla. 1989); <u>Dumas v. Sanford</u>, supra; <u>Hoffman v. Kohns</u>, 385 So.2d 1064 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980); and <u>In re: Suarez's</u>, <u>Estate</u>, infra; the surviving spouse received the entire estate, to the disappointment of other family members named in the will because there were

[&]quot;Beatrice and Edward Donner must be treated the same as legatees of the estate just as if the decedent made the legacies to them in his will as he had previously contracted to do in the 1959 separation agreement with Beatrice Donner. Surely, these two should not stand in a better position as creditors of the estate when, as here, the decedent failed to do that which he contracted to do. He contracted to make them legatees of the estate and when he failed to do so, both Beatrice and Edward Donner sued for specific performance on the contract. They prevailed in their suit; the judgment was affirmed on appeal. They are accordingly entitled to specific performance on the contract to make a will which in effect puts them in the same category as legatees of the estate." [Citations omitted].

no lineal descendants, so plain is the law and so strong is the public policy surrounding this area of the law in Florida. See. Fla. Stat. 732.102 (1)(a).

After extensive review of all available cases on point from other states, the Supreme Court of Maryland concluded the rights of the surviving spouse are superior for public policy reasons:

"...[T]he public policy surrounding the marriage relationship . . . suggests that the surviving spouse's claim to an elective share should be afforded priority over the claims of beneficiaries of a contract to make a will. Like the majority of courts, we have recognized the well settled principle that contracts which discourage or restrain the right to marry are void as against public policy. [Citation omitted] In executing a will, a testator is presumed to know that a spouse might renounce the will, thus extinguishing or reducing the legacies contained in the will, and if the testator does not provide for this contingency then the beneficiaries under the will might lose the property left them [Citation omitted]. Thus, we find that the respondents' rights under the contract were limited by the possibility that the survivor might remarry and that the subsequent spouse might elect against the will. Consequently we conclude that their claims under the contract are subordinate to [the surviving spouse's] superior right to receive her elective share." Shimp v. Huff, 556 A.2d 252 (Md. 1989). [Emphasis added].

But even if a conflict in reasoning is found to exist in <u>Johnson</u> as opposed to <u>Putnam</u>, the statutory scheme in Florida obliges preference of the share of the pretermitted spouse over the share of any residuary beneficiary. Florida Statute 732.507 provides:

"(1) Neither subsequent marriage nor subsequent marriage and birth or adoption of lineal descendants shall revoke the prior will of any person, but "the pretermitted child or spouse shall inherit as set forth in ss. 732.301 and 732.302, regardless of the prior will. "[Emphasis added].

The pretermitted spouse, "shall receive a share in the estate of the testator equal in value to that which the surviving spouse would have received if the testator had died intestate. . . "[Emphasis added] [Fla. Stat. 732.301], which "share . . . is. . . one-half of the intestate estate." Fla. Stat. 732.102. The statute clearly points out that, "The share of the estate that is assigned to

Putnam v. Via

Jurisdictional Brief of Respondent

July 11, 1994

the pretermitted spouse shall be obtained in accordance with s. 733.805." Fla.

Stat. 732.301. Under Florida Statute 733.805, the shares of a pretermitted

spouse are appropriated from "Property devised to the residuary devisee or

devisees.. ." Since the petitioners have only established themselves as

residuary devisees, the share of the respondent pretermitted spouse comes from

the residue first.

Johnson v. Girtman did not involve nor address these clear statutory

provisions regarding the pretermitted spouse, but rather dealt with an elective

share argument when the surviving spouse was not even electing against the will.

In light of the cases and statutes in Florida, it is evident that the court in

Johnson arrived at its decision to achieve a fair result on the narrow facts of that

case alone, and that the argument regarding the elective share of the spouse was

simply one of four unsuccessful arguments made by the surviving spouse to

marshall an interest he had already waived. Therefore, any express and direct

conflict among district courts of appeal in Florida on this issue does not exist.

CONCLUSION

There is no express and direct conflict between the Second District's

opinion in Putnam with Johnson v. Girtman, in light of ample and long standing

case law in Florida. The Supreme Court, in declining to review this case, will

leave the law clear and undisputed: Florida's long standing law supported by

public policy reasons favors the interests of the pretermitted spouse over the

interests of residuary beneficiaries.

TERESA COOPER WARD, ESQ.

5322 Duhme Road

St. Petersburg, Florida 33708

(813) 393-5588

BAR#343692

Attorney for Respondent

Putnam v. Via Jurisdictional Brief of Respondent July 11, 1994